

Language, Culture and Identity

Scientific Cycle 2021-2024

DISCOVER. INSPIRE. CHANGE.

Table of Contents

Language, Culture & Identity	1
1. Multiple questions around language(s)	2
Preserving and navigating linguistic diversity	3
2. Linguistic diversity in Canada: From bilingualism to	
multilingualism?	4
Historical and institutional background	4
French and francophone minorities	6
Beyond the official languages	6
3. Linguistic pluralism and multilingualism in South Africa	8
Contemporary issues around languages in South Africa	9
Conclusion	11
References	12



Language, Culture & Identity

Language has long confronted thinkers and leaders with many questions about human beings and their relations with each other. Today, contemporary trends like the critical situation of many Indigenous languages worldwide, technological progress in artificial intelligence, and a backlash against globalization bring new urgency or relevance to a number of language-related questions. These include: how to protect and sustain minority languages? What are the implications of artificial intelligence technologies and digital platforms for language learning and use, and for the configuration of languages globally? Are these technologies opening new horizons to understand how language learning affects cognitive predispositions or to empower people with language impairments?

Language(s) will be at the heart of the Pierre Elliott Trudeau Foundation's scientific cycle for 2021–2024. Given the interconnectedness of languages with culture and identity, we will pay particular attention to these relationships as we explore issues and debates around language(s) across disciplines. Hence, this scientific theme will challenge Scholars

to seek answers to significant questions at the intersection of language, culture and identity. This includes questions such as how progressive modern society may better account for linguistic pluralism and the identity politics embedded within and whether Canada, or a country such as South Africa, has created a linguistic policy landscape that may serve as a model for others as they reconcile their own histories and recognize the importance of linguistic pluralism and its place within increasingly multicultural nations.

Section one of this framework paper provides a brief overview of timely interdisciplinary issues related to language and languages. Sections two and three address contemporary linguistic challenges and their historical background in Canada and South Africa, respectively. Notable for its linguistic diversity, South Africa has had a multilingual state policy for the past 25 years. By providing an international perspective and a point of comparison, the South African case will help broaden our Scholars' reflection on language, culture and identity.



Multiple questions around language(s)

As a foundational aspect of human behaviour, language sits at the intersection of our biological and cultural inheritance; it is the product of brain activity and is acquired naturally, but is much influenced by the past and contemporary cultural context. Further, language refers both to the human capacity for speech and meaningmaking, and to a specific linguistic system such as the English or French language. Given the complex nature of language, it is associated with a broad range of questions that lend themselves to scientific inquiry in a plurality of disciplines, including through an interdisciplinary approach.

In the humanities and social sciences, the rich variety of questions that have been and continue to be explored include the role of language in society; how linguistic changes occur; how people's language shapes their culture and identity and how, in turn, the latter shape languages. For anthropologists and other social scientists, language is much more than a tool for communication in society; language functions as a relational, symbolic, material and ideological space. As such, it is a key part of culture and serves social functions such as the transmission of culture from one generation to the next, the construction of knowledge about the world, as well as the definition and expression of people's identities.

With respect to language as a cognitive faculty, disciplines like cognitive neuroscience and neuropsychology have produced important new knowledge in the last 20 years, thanks to the development of new techniques of brain mapping¹. Notably, it was shown that speakers of different languages develop different cognitive skills and predispositions and that bilingualism (whatever languages spoken) has positive effects on cognitive development and longterm cognitive health². Increasingly, the advancement of knowledge on the cognitive aspects of language may help empower people living with language disorders or impairments. For instance, in April 2019, the media announced the creation of a new device that translates brain activity into speech, which is a promising avenue that could one day give a voice to people who lost speech from neurological disorders³.

Language is also a core topic in the field of artificial intelligence (AI). Developments in this field have so far allowed the development of technologies of humanrobot interaction and automatic language processing, including through applications for language learning, translation and interpretation. With respect to translation, recent years have seen great improvements in the accuracy of AI-enabled translation platforms like Google Translate and Microsoft Translator, although their performance varies across languages. This raises the question as to whether machine translation will soon remove the need for human translation and what may be the implications (linguistically, socially, culturally and economically) of the increasing reliance of organizations and individuals on automatic translation. More broadly, language-related technological progress raises the following questions:



How do digital technologies impact human linguistic abilities and practices, and how will AI systems affect language learning and use?

Will access to AI assist minority groups in reclaiming linguistic and other semiotic resources?

Do artificial intelligence technologies provide new opportunities for multilingualism? Could they undercut the necessity for a lingua franca in multilingual contexts and could that negatively impact intercultural understanding and people's openness to different cultures and identities?

How may language technologies impact the dissemination of knowledge?

Preserving and navigating linguistic diversity

While there are about 7,000 languages in the world, more than half the world's population speaks just 23 of them and it is predicted that nearly half of languages will disappear by the next century, most of them being Indigenous languages4. What are the consequences for humanity of losing languages? From an anthropological perspective, a group's language embeds cultural specificities such as specific knowledge, modes of thinking and world views. These cultural specificities, which shape people's identities, are not necessarily easily transferable in another language. Hence, losing a language means losing a specific cultural legacy. That can imply the loss of precious knowledge for human improvement and sustainable development; for instance, Indigenous languages often

encode specific ecological knowledge that reflects a unique understanding of the local environment.⁵

With the Internet having become central to the functioning of contemporary knowledge societies, linguistic diversity in the digital world has also become a cause for concern. According to Internet World Stats, ten languages (including English and Mandarin Chinese, but also French) make up for more than 75% of languages used on the Internet⁶. What are the implications of this narrowing of the linguistic field? How does language affect one's experience of the Internet? It seems safe to assume that the linguistic digital divide creates inequalities of access to information and knowledge for speakers of non-dominant languages. Could the Internet not be a place to grow and promote greater understanding and recognition for minority languages? So how can we foster linguistic diversity and multilingualism on the Internet?

The importance of being able to access information in one's language is brought to light in the context of the COVID-19 pandemic. According to Ethnologue, an authoritative resource on world languages, as of April 2020, "Millions of people who speak lesser-known languages don't have a single resource on COVID-19 yet. The information gap is enormous – and lives are at stake"7. This exemplifies how crucial people's ability to use their language can be and how it is a matter of human rights and dignity. As recognized by the United Nations, a person's freedom to use his or her chosen language is a prerequisite to other human rights such as access to health



services, education and information as well as access to employment and freedom of expression⁸.

In a different vein, while English has been the international lingua franca since at least the mid-20th century, contemporary international trends, in terms of the distribution of demographic, political and economic power, suggest that Mandarin Chinese might become the new lingua franca in the future, assuming technological progress does not put an end to the global dominance of one language. In terms of native speakers, Mandarin Chinese is by far the most spoken language in the world due to the very large population of China⁹. Be that as it may, how does the realignment of power globally, which is leading to the re-emergence of powers such as China and changes in multilateral governance, affect the status and role of languages (particularly English)? Contemporary political trends at the international level also raise questions such as: how is the backlash against globalization and the rise of populism affecting the politics and policies of language?

At the level of individual countries, the management of linguistic diversity and minority languages remains an important and complex issue in many states. On that topic, the following sections provide a window into linguistic issues and debates in Canada and South Africa.

2 Linguistic diversity in Canada: From bilingualism to multilingualism?

Language and linguistic diversity have been central to the evolution of Canada throughout its history. They continue to raise important challenges in the 21st century, notably with respect to the fate of francophone minorities across Canada, the efforts to maintain and revitalize Indigenous languages and the increasing linguistic diversity stemming from international migration.

Historical and institutional background

Before the European colonization of what is now the Canadian territory, Indigenous peoples spoke a great diversity of languages, including those from the Algonquian, Iroquoian, Siouan and Athabaskan language families¹⁰. Following French and British colonization in the 17th and 18th centuries, French and English took centre stage in the institutional life and political debates of the Canadian territory, Indigenous languages being ignored, at best, and from the 1870s, explicitly targeted by assimilationist policies of the federal government¹¹.

French-English linguistic duality and bilingualism played an important role in the negotiations of the Canadian Confederation in the 1860s, contributing to the decision to create a federal entity, in response to French Canadians' concern over the protection of their language and culture¹². In the decades following Confederation, it will turn out, however, that federalism did not guarantee the protection of the rights of francophone minorities, as some provinces with an



English majority banned French from their schools and legislative assemblies¹³. Moreover, in Quebec, until the 1960s, French and English had an equal status in public institutions, but English dominated the economic spheres and the francophone majority was in a situation of socio-economic inferiority relative to anglophones¹⁴.

Political developments in the 1960s were pivotal to the subsequent evolution regarding linguistic issues in Canada and social representations about Canadian identity. In the context of increasing Quebec nationalism and tensions between Quebec and Ottawa, the federal government launched, in 1963, the Royal Commission on Bilingualism and Biculturalism¹⁵. It was based upon the Commission's findings that Prime Minister Pierre Elliott Trudeau introduced, in 1969, the Official Languages Act (OLA), which made English and French the official languages of Canada and established French-English bilingualism in federal institutions¹⁶. In response to the concerns of other cultural minority groups, the government complemented the OLA with a multiculturalism policy recognizing the intrinsic value of cultural diversity in Canadian society and promoting cultural retention¹⁷. Multiculturalism was, however, firmly embedded within the bilingual framework of the OLA and, as such, it encouraged cultural groups other than francophones and anglophones to learn one or both official languages¹⁸. With the OLA and the multiculturalism policy, official bilingualism and multiculturalism (or pluralism) were being defined as key values of the country¹⁹.

The Constitution Act of 1982 upgraded the status of French-English bilingualism to the rank of fundamental right by incorporating a set of linguistic provisions in the *Charter of Rights and Freedoms*, notably the right of every individual Canadian to use French or English in their communications with federal government institutions, and official language educational rights for provincial minorities²⁰. Taking into account developments stemming from the Charter, the OLA was strengthened in 1988.

Within the limits permitted by the Charter, federalism has allowed Canadian provinces and territories to adopt different linguistic policies, language being a shared competence of the federal and provincial governments²¹. Hence, official bilingualism at the federal level coexists with different provincial and territorial linguistic regimes. Since 1969, New Brunswick has been the only officially bilingual province, with significant challenges in the balance of power between francophone and anglophone communities. Since 1974, Quebec has been the only province with French as the only official language, a decision that prompted a history of challenges and identity crises balancing the province's language laws and its long-standing English-speaking communities. The eight other provinces have English as their official language (de jure or de facto), while two of the three territories (Northwest Territories and Nunavut) added Indigenous languages to French and English as their official languages²². Moreover, since the 1980s, all provinces and territories, except British Columbia, have adopted laws, regulations or policies on the rights of official language minorities, although this



has not meant equal rights of French and English speakers across the country²³.

French and francophone minorities

Many francophones have long considered the general situation of the French language in Canada as precarious and data from the most recent census (2016) offer some support for this view: "Data on knowledge of official languages, languages spoken at home and first official language spoken indicate a decline in the relative weight of French in Canadian society. Conversely, English is seeing a bit of an upswing, particularly in Quebec"24. Overall, French is the first official language spoken by 22.8% of the Canadian population (7.9 million), but only about 1 million live in other provinces than Quebec, with Ontario having the most francophones, followed by New Brunswick and Alberta²⁵.

In terms of access to services in French in each province, francophones outside Quebec have found key support within the Canadian Charter of Rights and Freedoms. Indeed, through Charter-based judicial review, francophone minority communities were able to obtain, to some extent, recognition of their linguistic rights, including "the provinces' obligation to fund educational facilities in the language of the minority", which was a significant gain for these communities²⁶. However, the constitutional language regime is not sufficient to ensure the vitality of francophone communities outside Quebec. While members of these minorities continue to contest their unmet demands for provincial public services in French in the courts, recent Supreme Court judgments (e.g. Caron judgment,

2015) have been less favourable to the protection of the interests of francophone minorities²⁷. Moreover, in some provinces, recent years have seen difficult conditions for francophones; in particular, the governments of Ontario and New Brunswick refused to pursue some of their investments in services and institutions for francophones²⁸.

With respect to bilingualism in federal institutions, annual reports by the Official Languages Commissioner of Canada clearly indicate that shortcomings persist in the implementation of the OLA, to the detriment of francophones' rights²⁹. As a result, various stakeholders (including the Official Languages Commissioner and the Standing Senate Committee on Official Languages) have called for the modernization of this legislation in order to strengthen it³⁰. This raises a broader question: what should be done to improve the implementation of institutional bilingualism and ensure the respect of francophones' linguistic rights across Canada? In the future, could new technologies be harnessed to support the learning and use of French in these institutions? And crucially, how to ensure the future vitality of francophone minority communities across Canada?

Beyond the official languages

Over the past 15 years, there has been increasing recognition that, as stated in the 2005 report of the Task Force on Aboriginal Languages and Cultures: "Canada's linguistic heritage runs deeper than the English and French languages" There are about 70 Indigenous languages



in Canada, most of which are "endangered" according to UNESCO and the government of Canada³²; accordingly, "in 2016, only 15.6% of Indigenous people could converse in an Indigenous language, compared to 17% of Indigenous people in 2011 and 21% in 2006"33. The precarious situation of Indigenous languages stems largely from the history of assimilationist governmental policies that prohibited First Nations, Inuit and Metis peoples—in the context of residential schools—from speaking their native language³⁴. This has hindered the cultural transmission of these languages from generation to generation and has contributed to disconnecting First Nations, Inuit and Metis peoples from their culture and identity³⁵.

Following the recommendations of the Truth and Reconciliation Commission (2005–2015). the federal government worked to develop legislation that would help reverse the erosion of First Nations, Inuit and Métis languages³⁶. This resulted in the adoption, in June 2019, of the *Indigenous Languages* Act, which contains provisions to "support the efforts of Indigenous Peoples to reclaim, revitalize, strengthen and maintain Indigenous languages"37. The reactions of First Nations, Inuit and Metis organizations to the bill have raised a number of questions for debate³⁸, including these: does the legislation offer adequate and sufficient support for Indigenous languages and their long-term vitality? Beyond federal legislation, what are other actors—provinces, territories and non-governmental actors doing to help ensure a future for Indigenous languages in Canada and what other

measures could be implemented? In what ways may the private and non-profit sectors collaborate to support the revitalization of Indigenous languages?

In addition to English, French and Indigenous languages, linguistic diversity in Canada is also reflected in the presence of many other languages due to international migration, which is currently the main source of population growth in the country and is expected to be so in the next 25 years³⁹. While 50 years ago, about 15% of the population of the country was born abroad, this proportion was at 22% in 2016. Knowledge of English or French is one of the selection criteria for economic immigrants in Canada—and Quebec, specifically, privileges immigrants who are French speakers but increasing immigration in the country nonetheless implies an increasing linguistic diversity in terms of people's mother tongue(s) and language(s) spoken at home⁴⁰. From 2011 to 2016, the number of people who reported an immigrant mother tongue increased by 910,400 people or 13.3%, bringing the total number of Canadians speaking a mother tongue other than French or English to 7.7 million⁴¹. The most common mother tongues among immigrants (more than 100,000 people) include Mandarin, Cantonese, Punjabi, Spanish and Arabic⁴².

Considering that international immigration in the country is expected to remain important in the foreseeable future, what may be the implications of this trend for the status and use of languages in Canada? Thinking of the linguistic future of the country prompts a set of related questions:



What impact may greater linguistic diversity have on French-English bilingualism, both at the institutional and individual levels?

Will multilingualism become a more important value for Canadians, notably on the job market?

Could artificial intelligence technologies support greater multilingualism across the country?

Are there lessons Canada could be learning from other multilingual countries in terms of languages learning and management? What would it take for Canada to be a world leader of multilingualism?

Linguistic pluralism and multilingualism in South Africa

When compared to Canada, South Africa's linguistic landscape appears even more diversified and multilingual, both officially and sociologically. While Afrikaans and English were the only official languages during the apartheid regime (1948–1991), the post-apartheid Constitution extended the official language status to nine Indigenous languages (often referred to as "African languages" in a technical linguistic sense), namely: Zulu, Xhosa, Pedi, Tswana, Sotho, Tsonga, Swati, Venda and Ndebele. Languages that are most spoken at home among South Africans are Zulu (25%), Xhosa (15%) and Afrikaans (12%)⁴³. Zulu is also the most commonly spoken language outside the household (25%), followed by English (17%) and Xhosa (13%)⁴⁴. That being said, individual multilingualism is very common in South

Africa, many individuals being able to speak more than two of the official languages and the mixing of different languages being a common practice, especially in urban areas⁴⁵.

To understand contemporary linguistic issues (and the intersection of language, culture and identity) in South Africa, it is essential to go back to the history of the country. The current South African territory was first occupied by the Khoisan peoples, whose traditional society and language were eventually destroyed with the establishment of Dutch settlers in the 17th century⁴⁶. Over time, the demographic and cultural makeup of the territory diversified as a result of settlers' importation of slaves from Mozambique, Madagascar, the East Indies and India, the eastward expansion of the colony and the latter's conquest by the British⁴⁷. Prior to the British influence. the Afrikaans language had developed in the Cape as a local variety of Dutch, alongside Indigenous languages⁴⁸. In the 19th and 20th centuries, until 1947, British colonizers pursued an Anglicizing policy, which led to Afrikaners feeling linguistically and culturally threatened, and was a contributing factor to the growth of Afrikaner nationalism⁴⁹.

In 1948, the arrival to power of an Afrikaner nationalist elite led to the enforcement of an Afrikaans-English bilingualism across the country, even though Afrikaans and English speakers were minorities within the population⁵⁰. The new regime actively promoted the use of the Afrikaans language and put in place mechanisms for separating Afrikaners from the other South African linguistic and cultural groups⁵¹. One of these apartheid mechanisms was the "Bantu



Education", a segregationist education policy under which black people (the majority of the population) were educated in their mother-tongue language, but were indoctrinated with a racist curriculum aimed at convincing them of their social inferiority⁵². From 1948 to 1994, the policies pursued by the apartheid regime resulted in the enhancement of the status of Afrikaans in South Africa, increasing its use and making it the lingua franca of the country⁵³. At the same time, "Afrikaans became associated with the apartheid regime and was subsequently stigmatized as the 'language of the oppressor'"⁵⁴.

With Afrikaans being associated with the oppression of the apartheid regime and Indigenous languages having been denigrated for a long time, English became widely used within the anti-apartheid political movement and it dominated the negotiations that led to the first democratic elections of 1994. However, during the constitutional drafting process that followed, politicians opted for institutionalizing linguistic pluralism. Seeking to counter the previous privileging of Afrikaans while also avoiding downgrading its official status, lawmakers elevated the country's nine major Indigenous languages to the status of official languages, along with English⁵⁵. Thus, since the adoption of the Constitution in 1996, South Africa has had eleven official languages.

Many language policy specialists consider the pluralist linguistic provisions of the South African Constitution as exemplary and "commendably enlightened", in addition to representing, "the most multilingual state policy in the world"56. Committing the government to treat all eleven languages equitably, the Constitution also explicitly recognizes "the historically diminished use and status of the Indigenous languages of our people" and states that, as a consequence, "the state must take practical and positive measures to elevate the status and advance the use of these languages"57. Further, as part of the Bill of Rights, the Constitution "protects the rights of individuals to use the language of their choice" and "to receive education in the official languages or language of their choice where that is practicable"58. Overall, the South African constitutional framework promotes "linquistic pluralism as a resource for the promotion of a common, non-racial, fully inclusive South African identity"59.

Contemporary issues around languages in South Africa

About 25 years into the post-apartheid constitutional order, experts' assessments of the linguistic situation in South Africa suggest that there have been, and there are still today, significant discrepancies between the official policy and the on-theground reality and practices of government actors and South Africans in general⁶⁰. According to Orman, "public life in present-day South Africa is notable for its increasingly monolingual-English character", which is "symptomatic of the hegemony of an implicit 'English-only' ideology that permeates most governmental and public organizations"61. While English is far from dominant in terms of languages spoken at home by South Africans, it is dominant in fields such as business, trade and higher



education, and by and large, it is perceived as the language of social mobility⁶².

As mentioned by Beukes, "the role of Indigenous languages in education has been the object of considerable public debate and scholarly scrutiny"63. Beukes and Ricento note that the use of English has been increasing and that an increasing number of primary schools have adopted English as a medium of instruction⁶⁴. The use of Indigenous languages as languages of learning and teaching tends to be restricted to underprivileged schools, while privileged schools use English as a medium of instruction⁶⁵. The source of this pattern is notably related to the historical experience of the segregationist Bantu education policy, which developed the widespread cognitive association of Indigenous languages with an inferior quality of education, in addition to the belief that these languages "have little instrumental value"66. These negative attitudes toward Indigenous languages are shared by those who, themselves, speak these languages as a mother tongue. The result is that many South African children do not receive education in their mother tongue, a reality that is decried by advocates of language equality in the country⁶⁷. Overall, socio-economic inequalities are closely related with linguistic inequalities: "those who have the highest levels of education tend to be most proficient in Afrikaans and/or English", while those who are the least educated and have the least economic power are speakers of Indigenous languages, who constitute the vast majority of South Africans⁶⁸.

Afrikaans speakers, for their part, have seen a decline in the status and use of their language (and in their political power) in the public life of the post-apartheid period; Afrikaans was abandoned as a language of state administration and its use in business, industry and advertising, among other fields, declined. According to Orman, this situation has generated a "language-based identity conflict" between Afrikaans speakers and those, including "Westernized black South Africans", buying into the de facto dominant use of English⁶⁹.

A further problem raised in the literature has to do with the linguistic categorizations that were institutionalized in the postapartheid period, based on "the same ethnolinguistic identities that were so dubiously and controversially ascribed to the black population by the apartheid government"70. According to Makoni, "The African languages listed in the South African Constitution ... reinforce the boundaries which were arbitrarily drawn by [European] missionaries and subsequently awarded academic credibility through grammatical descriptions"71. In so doing, the two authors arque that the South African Constitution has perpetuated the European settlers' construct of languages as "neatly divided, bounded units", in contrast with the way local communities "experienced" language⁷². Thus, for Makoni and Pennycook, genuine decolonization and the empowerment of Indigenous speakers require a "disinvention" and "reconstitution" of the South African Indigenous languages⁷³.



In sum, this short overview of the rich linguistic landscape of South Africa raises a set of questions for further reflection and debate, including the following:

What are the benefits and limits of giving equal recognition to several languages in a jurisdiction? How to balance social inclusion and pragmatic concerns of efficiency in this regard?

What solutions may be adopted to advance the use and appreciation of historically marginalized languages in South Africa?

Could new digital technologies help South Africa ensure greater linguistic equality among its citizens?

What could Canada and South Africa learn from each other's experience with languages? For instance, could Canadians take inspiration from the more common practice of individual multilingualism in South Africa?

How does individual multilingualism, which appears more common in South Africa than in Canada, impact the way people think and relate to others?

Conclusion

The interdisciplinary study of language(s) allows us to grasp how it constructs our political and legal reality, while intersecting with social identity, group membership and intergenerational transmission of cultural beliefs. Further, as this framework paper illustrates, considering language through an interdisciplinary lens opens the door to many topical questions, including the impact of digital technologies on linguistic abilities, dispositions and practices, the challenges of protecting minority languages, as well as preserving and fostering linguistic diversity in political communities and on the Internet. Leaders in Canada and the world need to ponder such questions to ensure social inclusion, respect for cultural diversity and human rights, and to be innovative and forward-looking in the face of current linguistic issues.

It is within this landscape that the Pierre Elliott Trudeau Foundation's 2021-2024 Language, Culture & Identity scientific cycle for its leadership program will invite Scholars to reflect on, and debate, societal issues with respect to language(s), taking into consideration, notably, the interconnectedness of the latter with culture and identity across disciplines, digital platforms, and geographic boundaries.



References

- ¹ Boroditsky, L., 2019, "Language and the brain" (Editorial), Science, vol. 366 (6461), https://science.sciencemag.org/content/366/6461/13; "The neuroscience of language learning: why most humans are bilingual: An interview with cognitive neurolinguist Edna Andrews", *Duke Today*, January 9, 2017, https://today.duke.edu/2017/01/neuroscience-language-learning-why-most-humans-are-bilingual.
- ² Barbu, C., Gonzalez, A., Gillet, S., & Poncelet, M., 2019, "Cognitive Advantage in Children Enrolled in a Second-Language Immersion Elementary School Program for One Year", *Psychologica Belgica*, 59(1), 416–435. https://doi.org/10.5334/pb.469; « Les bienfaits du cerveau bilingue se confirment », *Radio Canada*, 20 March 2016, https://ici.radio-canada.ca/nouvelle/770385/cerveau-bilingue-etat-connaissances.
- ³ Michael Greshko and Maya Wei-Haas, "New device translates brain activity into speech. Here's how", *National Geographic*, April 24, 2019, https://www.nationalgeographic.com/science/2019/04/new-computer-brain-interface-translates-activity-into-speech/.
- ⁴ Eberhard, D. M., G. F. Simons & C. D. Fennig (eds.), 2020, "How many languages are there in the world?", in *Ethnologue: Languages of the World*, SIL International, https://www.ethnologue.com/guides/how-many-languages.
- ⁵ United Nations Permanent Forum on Indigenous Issues. Secretariat. *Action plan for organizing the 2019 International Year of Indigenous Languages*: note by the Secretariat, E/C.19/2018/8 (21 February 2018), p. 2–3, available from https://digitallibrary.un.org/record/1477512#record-files-collapse-header.
- ⁶ Internet World Stats, 2020, "Internet world users by language: Top 10 Languages", https://www.Internetworldstats.com/stats7.htm.
- ⁷ Ethnologue, 2020, "Coronavirus and Local Languages: How do you say, 'wash your hands'?", *Ethnologue: Languages of the world*, https://www.ethnologue.com/guides/health.
- ⁸ United Nations Permanent Forum on Indigenous Issues, ibid, p. 2.
- ⁹ Ethnologue, 2020, "What is the most spoken language?", *Ethnologue: Languages of the world*, https://www.ethnologue.com/quides/most-spoken-languages.



- ¹⁰ Conrick, M. & V. Regan, 2007, French in Canada: Language Issues, Peter Lang, 15.
- ¹¹Rice, K. 2020, "Indigenous Languages in Canada", *The Canadian Encyclopedia*, https://www.thecanadianencyclopedia.ca/en/article/aboriginal-people-languages; Truth and Reconciliation Commission of Canada, 2015, *Honouring the Truth, Reconciling for the Future: Summary of The Final Report of the Truth and Reconciliation Commission of Canada*, http://nctr.ca/assets/reports/Final%20Reports/Executive Summary English Web.pdf.
- ¹² Cardinal, L. & R. Léger, 2017, « Quel avenir pour les langues officielles et la diversité linguistique? », *Options politiques*, https://policyoptions.irpp.org/fr/magazines/fevrier-2017/guel-avenir-pour-les-langues-officielles-et-la-diversite-linguistique/.
- 13 Conrick & Regan, ibid, 15; Cardinal & Léger, 2017, ibid.
- ¹⁴Conrick & Regan, ibid, 28–29; Dorais, F.-O., M. Block & E.-M. Meunier, 2018, « Grandeur et misère de l'utopie bilingue au Canada », *Bulletin d'histoire politique*, 26(2), 12; Heller, M. 2010, "Language as Resource in the Globalized New Economy", in N. Coupland (Ed.) *The Handbook of Language and Globalization*, 349–355. French Canadians across Canada had, in general, a lower socio-economic status than Anglophones, as shown by Canadian sociologist John Porter in *The Vertical Mosaic* (1965).
- ¹⁵Conrick & Regan, ibid, 35–36; Dorais et al., ibid, 12; Haque, E. 2012, *Multiculturalism within a Bilingual Framework: Language, Race and Belonging in Canada*, University of Toronto Press.
- ¹⁶ Conrick & Regan, ibid, 36–42.
- ¹⁷ Wayland, S. V. 1997, "Immigration, Multiculturalism and National Identity in Canada", *International Journal of Group Rights*, 5(1), 46; Jedwab, J. 2011, "Multiculturalism", *The Canadian Encyclopedia*, https://www.thecanadianencyclopedia.ca/en/article/multiculturalism#.
- ¹⁸ Wayland, ibid; Jedwab, ibid; Richez, E. 2012, "Francophone Minority Communities: The Last Constitutional Standard-Bearers of Trudeau's Language Regime", *International Journal of Canadian Studies*, no 45–46, p. 37.
- ¹⁹ Dorais et al., ibid, 13-14; Blattberg, C. 2013, "Canadian Identity and Language", *The Canadian Encyclopedia*, https://www.thecanadianencyclopedia.ca/en/article/canadian-identity-and-language.
- ²⁰ Foucher, P. 2018, « Une utopie réalisée? Manifestations juridiques du projet de bilinguisme canadien », *Bulletin d'histoire politique*, 26(2), 196, https://doi.org/10.7202/1043773ar; Conrick & Regan, ibid, 43–44.
- ²¹ Cardinal & Léger, 2017, ibid.



- ²² Cardinal & Léger, 2017, ibid.
- ²³ Foucher, ibid, 196–200.
- ²⁴ Statistics Canada, 2017, *Census in brief: English, French and official language minorities in Canada*, Catalogue no. 98-200-X2016011, https://www12.statcan.gc.ca/census-recensement/2016/as-sa/98-200-x/2016011/98-200-x2016011-eng.cfm.
- ²⁵ Canadian Heritage, 2020, *Some facts on the Canadian Francophonie*, https://www.canada.ca/en/canadian-heritage/services/official-languages-bilingualism/publications/facts-canadian-francophonie.html#a2. Outside Quebec, the relative weight of the French language minority in Canadian population diminished from 4.0% in 2011 to 3.8% in 2016 (Statistics Canada, 2017, ibid.).
- ²⁶ Richez, ibid, 43; Foucher, ibid, 200.
- ²⁷ Cardinal, L. & R. Léger, 2015, « L'avenir des minorités francophones : la décision Caron c. Alberta », *Policy Options*, https://policyoptions.irpp.org/fr/magazines/december-2015/lavenir-des-minorites-francophones-ladecision-caron-c-alberta/; Foucher, ibid, 200.
- ²⁸ Chouinard, S., Miville, S., Bock, M. et al. 2018, « Les nouveaux habits de la francophobie » (Opinion), *Le Droit*, November 16, https://www.ledroit.com/opinions/votre-opinion/les-nouveaux-habits-de-la-francophobie-391b93d4531d52852816675358e64aa2.
- ²⁹ « Le commissaire aux langues officielles veut une nouvelle loi d'ici 2021 », *Radio-Canada*, 9 May 2019, https://ici.radio-canada.ca/nouvelle/1168792/rapport-commissaire-aux-langues-officielles-nouvelle-loi-pas-plus-tard--2021; « Des sénateurs souhaitent une nouvelle Loi sur les langues officielles plus sévère », *Radio-Canada*, 13 June 2019, https://ici.radio-canada.ca/nouvelle/1183894/loi-langues-officielles-canada-ottawa-modernisation-fcfa.
- ³⁰ « Des sénateurs souhaitent une nouvelle Loi sur les langues officielles plus sévère », ibid; Johnson, J. 2019, « Modernization of *Official Languages Act* impacts all Canadians », Policy Options, https://policyoptions.irpp.org/magazines/ april-2019/modernization-official-languages-act-impacts-canadians/; « Les propositions des partis en matière de langues officielles », *ONFR+*, https://onfr.tfo.org/les-propositions-des-partis-en-matiere-de-langues-officielles/.
- ³¹ Task Force on Aboriginal Languages and Cultures, 2005, *Towards a New Beginning A Foundational Report for a Strategy to Revitalize First Nation*, Inuit and Métis Languages and Culture, Government of Canada, p 166, quoted in Government of Canada (Canadian Heritage), 2018, *Creating First Nations, Inuit and Métis Languages Legislation 2018 Discussion Guide*, https://www.canada.ca/content/dam/pch/documents/campaigns/indigenous-languages-legislation/Discussion-Guide-July10-2018-EN.pdf.



- ³² Canadian Heritage, 2019, "The Indigenous Languages Act Receives Royal Assent", News Release, https://www.canada.ca/en/canadian-heritage/news/2019/06/the-indigenous-languages-act-receives-royal-assent.html.
- ³³ Canadian Heritage, 2019, "Government of Canada introduces historic legislation on Indigenous languages", News Release, https://www.canada.ca/en/canadian-heritage/news/2019/02/government-of-canadaintroduces-historiclegislationonindigenous-languages.html.
- ³⁴ Rice, ibid.
- ³⁵ Truth and Reconciliation Commission of Canada, ibid.
- ³⁶ Canadian Heritage, 2019, *ibid*.
- ³⁷ Canadian Heritage, 2019, *ibid*.
- ³⁸ "Mixed reception greets new federal bill aimed at protecting and promoting Indigenous languages", *The Globe and Mail*, 5 February 2019, https://www.theglobeandmail.com/politics/ article-proposed-indigenous-language-law-met-by-mixed-views/; Fontaine, L. S., D. Leitch & A. B. Nicholas, 2019, "How Canada's Proposed Indigenous Languages Act Fails To Deliver", *Yellowhead Institute*, 9 May, https://yellowheadinstitute.org/2019/05/09/how-canadas-proposed-indigenous-languages-act-fails-to-deliver/; "Inuit org slams recently passed federal Indigenous languages bill", *Nunatsiaq News*, 26 June 2019, https://nunatsiaq.com/stories/article/inuit-org-slams-recently-passed-federal-indigenous-languages-bill/; "New Indigenous languages law does not protect Inuit languages, leaders say", CBC News, 27 June 2019, https://www.cbc.ca/news/canada/north/inuit-languages-bill-c91-nunavut-1.5191796.
- ³⁹ Cardinal, L. & Léger, R. 2019, "Ethnocultural and linguistic diversity: New challenges to Canada's language regime", in T. Ricento (Ed.) *Language Politics and Policies: Perspectives from Canada and the United States, Cambridge University Press.*
- ⁴⁰ In fact, Statistics Canada notes that "in 2016, 72,5% of immigrants reported having a mother tongue other than English or French" (Census in brief: Linguistic integration of immigrants and official language populations in Canada, p. 2–3.)
- ⁴¹Statistics Canada, 2017, Census in brief: Linguistic diversity and multilingualism in Canadian homes, Catalogue no. 98-200-X2016010.
- 42 Idem
- ⁴³ Republic of South Africa. 2020. "South Africa's people", https://www.gov.za/about-sa/south-africas-people#languages.



- 44 Idem
- ⁴⁵ Mesthrie, R. 2002, "South Africa: a sociolinguistic overview", in *Language in South Africa*, Cambridge, 12–13, 16; Botsis, H. 2017, *Subjectivity, language and the postcolonial: Beyond Bourdieu in South Africa*, Routledge; Republic of South Africa, ibid.
- ⁴⁶ Mesthrie, ibid, 13–14.
- ⁴⁷ Mesthrie, ibid, 14–15.
- ⁴⁸ Mesthrie, ibid, 15.
- ⁴⁹ Mesthrie ibid, 15; Louw, E. 2004, "Political power, national identity, and language: the case of Afrikaans", *International Journal of the Sociology of Languages*, 170, 44.
- ⁵⁰ Louw 2004, 44
- ⁵¹ Louw 2004, 44–45.
- ⁵² Botsis 2017; Ricento, T. 2010. "Language policy and globalization", in *The Handbook of Language and Globalization*, p. 135.
- ⁵³ Louw 2004, 45.
- ⁵⁴ Beukes 2009, 51.
- ⁵⁵Orman, J. 2008. *Language policy and nation-building in post-apartheid South Africa*, Springer, 91.
- ⁵⁶ Beukes, A.-M. 2009, "Language policy incongruity and African languages in postapartheid South Africa", *Language Matters*, 40(1), 35.
- ⁵⁷ Orman, ibid, 91.
- ⁵⁸ Makoni, S. 2003, "From misinvention to disinvention of language: multilingualism and the South African Constitution", in *Black linguistics: language, society and politics in Africa and the Americas*, 133–134.
- ⁵⁹ Orman, ibid, 93–94.
- 60 Orman, ibid; Beukes, ibid.
- ⁶¹Orman, ibid.
- ⁶²Orman, ibid, 94; Botsis, ibid; Beukes, ibid, 45–46.
- ⁶³ Beukes, ibid, 36.



- 64 Beukes 2009, 45-46; Ricento, ibid, 136.
- ⁶⁵ Ricento, ibid, 135.
- 66 Ricento, ibid; Beukes, ibid, 45–46.
- ⁶⁷ Dawood, Z. 2018. "The language question in South Africa" (opinion), *Politicsweb*, https://www.politicsweb.co.za/opinion/the-language-question-in-sa.
- 68 Beukes, ibid, 37; Orman, ibid, 94.
- ⁶⁹Orman, ibid, xi; Louw, ibid, 46.
- ⁷⁰ Orman, ibid, 92.
- ⁷¹ Makoni, ibid, 137; Ricento, ibid, 136.
- ⁷² Makoni, ibid.
- ⁷³ Ricento, ibid, 136.





The Pierre Elliott Trudeau Foundation is an independent and non-partisan charity established in 2001 as a living memorial to the former Prime Minister. In 2002, with the support of the House of Commons, the Government of Canada endowed the Foundation with the Advanced Research in the Humanities and Human Sciences Fund. The Foundation also benefits from private donations. By granting doctoral Scholarships, awarding Fellowships, appointing Mentors, and holding public events, the Foundation encourages critical reflection and action in four areas important to Canadians: human rights and dignity, responsible citizenship, Canada and the world, and people and their natural environment.

www.trudeaufoundation.ca



Langue

Cultu

Culture

DISCOVER. INSPIRE. CHANGE. www.trudeaufoundation.ca

Designed by chezboris.design